FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/4/2018 3:13 PM

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. ____96276-6

(Court of Appeals No. 50227-5-II)

MAUREEN HAY, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

AAA FRAMING CORPORATION, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Todd K. Skoglund, WSBA #30403 Casey & Skoglund, PLLC 130 Nickerson Street, Suite 210 Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 284-8165 Attorney for Petitioners

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Eastlake Const. Co. v. Hess, 102 Wash.2d 30, 51 (1984)11
STATUTES
RCW 19.27
RCW 19.27.020
RCW 19.27.031
COURT RULES RAP 13.4(b)(4)
OTHER
Residential Building Code (2009)
Residential Building Code 703.1 (2009)
Residential Building Code 703.1.1 (2009)6
Uniform Building Code

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioners are Maureen Hay, Igor Smal, Hanna Smal, Jordan Smith, Cameron Smith, Alex Kulibaba, Natalya Manchik, Dan Hart, Shawna Hart, Peter Manning, Adrienne Manning, Tawny Cabral, Whitney Decoria, Ryan Decoria, Josephine Pangan, Aubrey Bradley, Oznur Bradley, Cody Whitney, Yvonne Whitney, Haroon Sakhi, Adela Sakhi, Christine Johnson, Ked Edwards, Sherri Pena, Yong Lim, Amber Lee, Whitney Sargent, Yevgenity "John" Zadneprovskiy, Marina Zadneprovskiy, Eun Young Lee, Kurt Berg, Tracy Berg, Pete Nito, Jenelyn Nito, William Dunger, Banny Chhoeun, Sareth Chhoeun, Adam Jackson, Sara Jackson, Layla Bugado, Brad Bugado, Pho Do, and Hien Tran, the appellants below, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Opinion in *Hay et al. v. AAA Framing Corp et al.*, 2018 W: 3239278 (Division 2) filed July 3, 2018, and subsequent denial of a motion for reconsideration, filed August 2, 2018. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-19. A copy of the order denying Hay-Petitioners' motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-20.

C. REASONS TO ACCEPT REVIEW

The opinion in *Hay et al. v. AAA Framing Corp et al.* is of the utmost importance as it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be

determined by this Court. The review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This is a construction defect case. The Homeowners, Petitioners, settled with Highmark Homes LLC, the developer, and took an assignment against Respondents, the various contractors who performed construction services on the project.

This case presents the important question of whether Washington general contractors can enter into a master contract with subcontractors which shall be controlling and binding on all projects as stated in the master contracts, and whether or not there is a statutory obligation by contractors to build homes in compliance with the "minimum" standards in the applicable building codes.

Further, this case presents the opportunity for the Court to clear up the ambiguity of whether or not the building codes required in RCW 19.27 are to be followed and are codified into construction contracts and whether or not contractors are required to follow approved plans by cities or county building codes or if they can just ignore the approved plans and citations.

D. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Whether an appellate court erred when it held a master construction contract is not valid and enforceable under Washington law?
- 2. Whether an appellate court erred when it held RCW 19.27 does not need to be followed and it is not codified into construction contracts?

E. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The Respondents were all contracted with Highmark Homes LLC to frame the homes, install the windows, or install T1-11 siding on the sides and rear of the homes. CP 1699-1700; 1913-1921; 1499-1503; 1745-1751; 1808 – 1960; & 1688-1695 (ABSI CP 1721- 1736 & CP 1725 Lns 20-25 & CP 1708 Lns. 8-9) & (AAA CP 1788-1795 & CP 1789 Lns. 6-11 & CP 1754 -1765 & CP 1757 14 – 22) & (BQF CP 1665 - 1682 & CP 1675 Lns 6-7 & CP 1620, 1637 & CP 1623 Lns. 11-12.) (S & S CP 1587 – 1604 & CP 1592.)

Mr. Tollen, the managing member of Highmark, was only able to locate the S&S and ABSI contracts. CP 1913-1921 and 1499-1503. The ABSI contract specifically dictated that the master contract applied to all projects it worked on for Highmark. The contract reading,

ITEM 1 Master Agreement: The parties hereto agree that from time to time from the date hereof until this Agreement is terminated that Contractor will contract with Subcontractor for the furnishings of materials and/or the performance of various work on projects being constructed by Contractor. The parties further agree that this Agreement shall be the master agreement between them and as such shall control the rights, privileges, duties and responsibilities between them, which arise out of Subcontractor furnishing any materials for and/or performing any work on Contractor's construction projects.

(CP 1913, Pg.1 Item 1)

S&S' contract also dictated the master subcontract applied to all projects.

The contract reading:

1. GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1.1 Contractor wishes to utilize the services of Service Provider to provide services to Contractor and/or property owners ("Owner") introduced by Contractor. Based upon the nature of the services provided by Service Provider, it is anticipated that it will be impractical to enter into a separate agreement for services each time Contractor desires to use Service Provider.
- 1.3 In order to expedite the use of Service Provider's services each time they are needed, the parties agree to enter into and comply with this Master Service Agreement prior to any actual services being performed. It is the intent of the parties that these terms and conditions apply to any provision of services by Service Provider regardless of whether these terms and conditions are referenced in any purchase order, subsequent contract memo, etc. during the term of this contract
- 1.4 This Master Service Agreement shall be in full force and effect from the date of signing unless canceled in writing by either party with thirty days' notice. The cancellation of this agreement shall not negate any term or condition, such as the indemnity or insurance requirements.

(CP 1499, Pg. 1)

The S&S contract also required it to perform its work free from defects. (CP 2272)

Although Highmark could only locate 2 of the 4 Respondents' contracts, it was Highmark's standard policy to enter into master contracts with each contractor, covering each and every project the contractor worked on, and then to

enter into individual pricing agreements per home. (CP 1649-1700; 1485-1486; & 1908-1911) Mr. Tollen testifying that:

Highmark always enters into written contracts with subcontractors who perform work on Highmark projects. Highmark's subcontracts contain provisions requiring the subcontractor to defend and indemnify Highmark, make Highmark an additional insured, and require the subcontractor to give a warranty for its work.

CP 1913-1921 and 1499-1503

Mr. Tollen further testified once the Master contract was entered and the lumber was delivered for a particular house(s), he would contact a contractor and agree on a price, then the contractor would frame and side the house.

The homeowners employed three construction professionals to inspect the project. The first, Martin Flores, was retained to inspect the siding and related components on the project. Mr. Flores conducted multiple inspections at the project but the largest was conducted between January 18-20 of 2016 (CP 893 Lns 14-18.) After the investigations a *total of 24* homes had had destructive testing performed to determine the exact construction practices used and Mr. Flores opined he had enough information to extrapolate his findings to the remaining homes. (CP 893 Lns 19-22.)

Mr. Flores determined the exterior walls of most of the subject homes are, at three of four sides, comprised of T1-11 siding manufactured by Louisiana Pacific ("LP") or the siding's brand name of "Smartside." (CP 894- 895 Lns 13

- 2.) Mr. Flores opines that the Tyvek and Grip-Rite installation requirements for the siding were not followed at the Johnson house, or any of the other homes where we performed destructive analysis during his investigation (Id.) This failure according to Mr. Flores is contributing to or causing property damage, including at the Johnson house and at all the other houses at the project (CP 895 Lns. 6-9.)

The T1-11 siding from LP Building Products provides detailed installation requirements (CP 896 Lns 4- 12.) The T1-11 siding installed at the Johnson house and all the other houses at the project is not in compliance with the manufacturer's requirements and is leading to property damage at the Johnson's house and all the other houses at the project. (Id. at 11-14.)

Mr. Flores found major code violations of the applicable code, 2009 Residential building code (hereinafter "RBC") in the installation of the siding. The violations include but are not limited to including but not limited to RBC 703.1 and 703.1.1(CP 896 Lns. 15-19.)

To investigate the framing and structural issues with the T1-11 installed on the homes, the homeowners retained Robb Dibble (CP 1034 – 1037.) Mr. Dibble participated in destructive testing at 26 of the 29 homes. (CP 1035 Ln 10.) Mr. Dibble's analysis included the conclusion that the Louisiana Pacific (LP) siding panels, which the contractor intended to act as shear walls, are not properly secured to underlying building components, resulting in part in excessive movement and safety issues (Id. Lns. 6 -13.)

The shear walls, manufactured by LP Building Products, are not installed in conformance with the LP Building Product's installation requirements (CP 1036 Lns. 11-14.) Mr. Dibble's review of the Building Plans and analysis of the as-built condition confirm the LP siding panels are intended to operate and act as shear walls. (Id. Lns. 16-20.) Mr. Dibble's analysis confirmed the existence of pervasive overdriven nails in violation of LP Building Product's requirement for the assembly of shear wall nails (CP 1036 Lns. 14-15.)

Also, the approved Building Plans provide additional requirements that are not satisfied. Under the Building Plans' Sheet S-1.0, "Shear Wall Schedule", the panels are required to be 5/8" thick¹ and nailed with 8d nails that are 0.131" diameter by 2 ½" long (CP 1036 Lns 16-21.) In the instant case the installation employs undersized panels, undersized nails and nail spacing wider than required at Sheet S-1.0. (Id.)

Further, the approved plan's Sheet S-1.0, Detail 2/S-1.0 also required installation of horizontal straps at perforated shear walls to provide additional support. (CP 1037 Lns. 1-4.) The horizontal straps are not installed (Id.)

The violations noted by Mr. Dibble adversely impact the safety of the homes via the structural elements' failure to safely resist the superimposed loads, contributing to property damage (CP 663 Lns 4-7.)

-

¹ Or ½" OSB or ½" CDX (neither is applicable).

Mr. Dibble discovered during his "analysis of the as-built conditions" that there was "evidence of progressive structural damage, including interior wall cracking and water damage and building movement." (CP 1036 Lns 1-5.) He concluded the damage was being caused due to the fact the structural T1-11 siding panels were not installed correctly, to code, or in compliance with manufacturer's requirements. (CP 1036 Lns 6-13.) As a result of these defects and others in the installation of the siding, Mr. Dibble opined that all the siding needed to be removed and replaced on the homes (CP 1037 Lns 4-12.) Due to this sample size he believes the framing (missing straps among other things) and the siding conditions (over driven nails among other things) he observed exist at every house (CP 1035 Lns. 16-18 and CP 1037 Lns. 9-12.)

They all admit they performed the work, yet without any factual or legal support they argue the master contract did not apply to the project, they had no obligation to build the project to the applicable building codes, and they were not responsible for supervision, although the contract clearly puts all these responsibilities on the respondents. The simple fact is all the respondents admit to performing the work and this fact alone should have precluded the trial Court from granting the respondents' motions for summary judgment.

I. DISCUSSION

A. Assignment of error

1. <u>Highmark's master contract applied to the homes at the Valley Haven project</u>

ABSI and S& S contracts both state that their contracts with Highmark apply to which ever project they were working on for Highmark. Also, Mr. Tollen testified that all contractors were required to sign a master subcontract and therefore he believed that AAA and BSQ had also entered into master contracts. The COA appeared to hold the contracts did not contain scopes of work therefore the contracts were unenforceable. This logic is non-sensical for multiple reasons

First, the contracts say

Based upon the nature of the services provided by Service Provider, it is anticipated that it will be impractical to enter into a separate agreement for services each time Contractor desires to use Service Provider.

So, it was anticipated by the parties that not only would the master contract apply but also that other terms such as scope and price would be discussed all the contracts signed one.

Second Mr. Tollen testified that the pricing was often done via a conversation or even a text but that does not change the fact the work was still covered under the terms of the master subcontract. The agreement reads:

Last but not least, the record contained exactly what each contractor did in relation on the project so how the Court ruled there was no evidence as to what the

Contractor's did is extremely puzzling and which leads appellant to believe the Division II does not believe in master contract are enforceable.

2. The Contractors had a contractual obligation to build the project in compliance with the 2009 building codes and breached its obligations to Highmark

According to RCW 19.27.020 to "promote the health, safety, and welfare" of homeowners, contractors are required to meet "the minimum standards and requirements for construction...." Contractors are required to follow the applicable building codes, RCW 19.27.020 (1) and RCW 19.27.031. In this case the applicable code was the 2009 Residential Building Code and Respondents failed to comply with the code. (CP 422-504).

Pursuant to RCW 19.27.031 ABSI was required, without deviation, to ensure its construction work complied in all respects with the building codes in effect, i.e., 2009 International Residential Code and Uniform Building Code. The notes corresponding to 19.27.031 state "(2) It is in the state's interest and consistent with the state Building Code act to have in effect provisions regulating the construction of single and multiple-family residences.... (4) The legislature finds that Building Codes are an integral component of affordable housing...." *Id*.

Washington law allows the Court to infer and imply certain essential terms of the contract, including a promise the construction was free of defects requiring costly repairs. In addition to the reasonable conclusion purchasers of new construction rely upon their builder/seller to, at a minimum, follow Washington

laws, Washington common law also identifies this requirement. In Eastlake Const.

Co. v. Hess, 102 Wash.2d 30, 51 (1984) the Supreme Court confirmed that when a

contractor submits a bid, "he is, in effect, representing that he will perform that job

in a workmanlike manner[.]").

The contractor's argument(s) they had no obligation to build the homes to

the plans and specifications approved by the city and in compliance with RCW

19.27 is not only nonsensical - it attempts to set a dangerous precedent which will

endanger homes and the families that live therein and thus should be rejected by

the Court.

CONCLUSION

The trial Court erred when it granted BQF, ABSI, S&S and AAA's motions

for summary judgment as there are obviously issues of fact. This Court should

reverse the trial Court and remand the issue(s) back to the trial Court for a jury to

decide.