# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/4/2018 4:32 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court Cause No. 96276-6

\_\_\_\_\_

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MAUREEN HAY, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

AAA FRAMING CORPORATION, et al.,

Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marianna Valasek-Clark, WSBA #31911 Jager Clark PLLC 800 5<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Suite 3850 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 441-9710 Attorney for Respondents Best Quality Framing #1, LLC and ABSI Builders, Inc.

####

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Respondents, Best Quality Framing #1, LLC (hereinafter "BQF") and ABSI Builders, Inc. (hereinafter "ABSI") were Third-Party Defendants in the underlying matter, in Pierce County Superior Court Cause Number 14-2-08793-0 ("Underlying Lawsuit").

BQF and ABSI were subcontractors to Highmark Homes, LLC (hereinafter "Highmark"), the developer and general contractor on the Valley Haven project (hereinafter "Project"). BQF and ABSI moved for summary judgment against Highmark on all claims. The claims were dismissed. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court dismissal, because Highmark failed to present evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact. Petitioners now seek a review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court dismissals.

Petitioners fail to meet the standards governing this Court's acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals did not rule that the master construction contracts are invalid and unenforceable as Petitioners state in their issues presented. Nor did the Court of Appeals rule that RCW 19.27 does not need to be followed, as the Petitioners allege. The Court of Appeals simply held that the evidence was insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact with respect to breach

of contract and duty to defend claims, and therefore the claims were properly dismissed on summary judgment.

The Court of Appeals decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Therefore the Petition for Review should be denied.

#### II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Parties and Background

Petitioners filed a complaint against Highmark on May 15, 2014. CP 1645. Highmark was the developer and general contractor on the Project. CP 1660. A year later, on May 8, 2015, Highmark filed its third-party complaint against various subcontractors, including BQF and ABSI. CP 1656 – 1663.

## B. Highmark Testified that the Subcontractors' Work Met Its Expectations

Highmark, as the developer and general contractor, supplied all materials for the Project it wanted installed, except for roofing and drywall materials. CP 1673. Highmark testified that it employed multiple superintendents and employees whose scope of responsibility was to "supervise[] construction" at the Project. CP 1672. Highmark testified that its superintendents' number one job was to walk every house, every day and to make sure the subcontractors' work was done properly. CP 1697 –

1698. Highmark testified that its onsite superintendents were very familiar with the fundamentals of framing and siding. CP 1701 – 1702. Highmark testified that the framing and siding work at the Project was performed correctly and to Highmark's expectations. CP 1701. Highmark testified that it would not pay a framing subcontractor until the work passed inspection. CP 1702. The buildings were inspected by City of Fife and the City issued certificates of occupancy for the buildings. CP 1676.

#### C. Subcontracts with BQF and ABSI

BQF and ABSI both issued interrogatories and requests for production to Highmark. CP 1665, CP 1721. BQF requested that Highmark produce any alleged contract documents and that it identify the contractual basis for its third-party claims against BQF. CP 1669 – 1670, CP 1673 – 1675, 1677. Highmark provided written responses to the discovery, but could not produce a written contract between Highmark and BQF, or identify the factual bases for its allegations against BQF. *Id.* ABSI made the same requests as BQF. Highmark answered the discovery, but similarly could not produce a complete written contract between Highmark and ABSI on the Project, or identify the factual bases for its allegations against ABSI. CP 1725, 1729 – 1731.

Tom Tollen, the 30(b)(6) designee of behalf of Highmark, was asked about contracts Highmark had with subcontractors during his

deposition. Mr. Tollen testified that "Jose" (who was a member of BQF from 2011 – mid 2014) had a contract with Highmark, but acknowledged during his deposition that "Jose" worked for a different company when he began working with Highmark in about 2008. CP 1694, CP 1700. Mr. Tollen testified that he was unsure of whether the agreement that he believed "Jose" entered into with Highmark was a "master contract" or a "project-specific" contract. *Id.* Mr. Tollen also testified that he could not state with certainty whether it would have been Mr. Tollen, or someone else at Highmark, that would have entered into this alleged contract, of an unknown type or date with "Jose." CP 1700. In the end, Mr. Tollen testified that despite a diligent search, Highmark did not find a copy of any written agreement with BQF related to this Project. CP 1699 – 1700. In fact, Highmark could not locate written contracts for a number of its subcontractors. *Id.* 

#### D. Motions to Dismiss Based on Lack of Evidence

The discovery cut off and trial were fast approaching, and BQF and ABSI were forced to file motions for summary judgment asking to the Court to dismiss all claims against them based on the lack of evidence. A master agreement related to ABSI was produced for the first time with Highmark's response to the ABSI motion. CP 2007. The master agreement does not specify this Project. No document has been presented that

incorporates the terms of this master agreement for this Project. No master agreement was produced as to BQF.

The BQF and ABSI motions were heard on July 29, 2016, two days after discovery cut off. CP 1992; CP 2147–2154. The trial court dismissed all claims except breach of contract. The remaining claims were subsequently dismissed on August 26, 2016. CP 2357. Petitioners filed an appeal and the Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of the claim due to lack of evidence.

#### III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

#### A. Standard of Review

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review of a court of appeals decision will be accepted by the Supreme Court only for the following reasons:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Petitioners fail to establish any of these criteria in their Petition for Review. The Petition alleges an issue of substantial public interest. (Pet.) 2. However, the Court of Appeals simply affirmed the trial court dismissal based on insufficient evidence to create a question of fact on the breach of contract claims.

### B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Petitioners allege an issue of substantial public interest based on two issues for review: (1) whether the Appellate Court erred when it held a master construction contract is not valid and enforceable and (2) whether the Appellate Court erred when it held RCW 19.27 does not need to be followed and that it is not codified into construction contracts.

The Petitioners are incorrect in their statements. The Court of Appeals did not rule this way. The Court of Appeals specifically considered the two issues and simply ruled that Petitioners failed to represent sufficient evidence to create a question of fact and that the claims were properly dismissed. Appendix A at 5, 10-12, 13-15, and 18-19.

As to ABSI, the Court of Appeals reviewed the applicability of the master agreement and breach of contract with respect to codes, including RCW 19.27. Appendix A at 10-12. The Court of Appeals specifically discussed the applicability of the provisions of the master agreement and RCW 19.27. Appendix A-11.

The Appellate Court never held that a master construction contract is not valid and enforceable, or that RCW 19.27 does not need to be followed, or that it is not codified into construction contracts. What the Appellate Court found was that Highmark failed to present any evidence regarding what work ABSI agreed to perform, what work ABSI actually performed, whether that work was defective, failed to meet codes or resulted in damage. *Id.* The Appellate Court found "the evidence presented in the trial court was insufficient to create a question of fact regarding a breach of contract." *Id.* Petitioner failed to demonstrate an issue of substantial public interest that provides a basis for review under 13(b)(4).

Similarly with respect to BQF, the Court of Appeals found that even if a written contract existed, Highmark did not present any specific evidence regarding the work BQF agreed to preform or actually performed, whether that work was defective, or whether the defects caused damage to the houses. Appendix A-18. The Court of Appeals found with respect to BQF that Highmark did not submit sufficient evidence to create question of fact regarding breach of contract. Appendix A-18.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals did not rule that master construction contracts are invalid and unenforceable as Petitioners state in their issues

presented for review. Nor did the Court of Appeals rule that RCW 19.27

does not need to be followed. The Court of Appeals held that the evidence

presented was insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact with

respect to breach of contract and duty to defend claims, and therefore the

claims were properly dismissed. The Court of Appeals decision does not

involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by

this Court. The Petition for Review should be denied.